


of steamboat traffic on the upper Missis­
sippi and who were to control its develop­
ment and progress for more than fifteen 
years, almost to the end of commercial 
transportation on the river. These men 
were Charles D. Viebahn and William F. 
Punteney. In 1899 Viebahn and an asso­
ciate named TuUy built a steamer which 
was launched early in June, 1900. It was 
christened the "Irene" in honor of Irene 
Hodgedon, daughter of S. H. Hodgedon, 
a prominent Aitkin businessman. The boat 
had a checkered career in its brief period 
of existence. In August, 1900, it sprang a 
leak, and Captain Viebahn was compelled 
to run it ashore about eighteen miles below 
Aitkin. It was soon repaired and it resumed 
business for the rest of the season. The 
"Irene" opened the season of 1901 toward 
the end of April and continued to ply the 
river until August 20, when it was de­
stroyed by fire at its dock in Aitkin. Both 
boat and cargo were lost. The hull was 
raised from fourteen feet of water, but 
nothing of value was salvaged.^" 

Viebahn was not discouraged by this 
loss, nor was his belief lessened that steam­
boat transportation was needed there. 
Punteney, who was manager of the electric 
light plant in Aitkin, joined with Viebahn 
to form the Mississippi Transportation 
Company. In November, 1901, they an­
nounced plans to build a successor to the 
"Irene" to be launched in the spring. The 
new seventy foot boat, launched in Aprff, 
1902, was also named the "Irene." The 
Aitkin Age for April 8 announced that the 
boat would be ready for service as soon as 
the river opened up and then continued, 
"Up river people will have the advantage 
of water transportation, a convenience of 
which they have been greatly in need since 
the burning of the boat last August." In an 
interview in 1935 Captain Punteney stated 
positively that "not a stick of the Irene 
No. 1 went into the Irene No. 2." The new 
"Irene" enjoyed a virtual monopoly of river 
commerce in 1902, although several small 
unnamed boats carried some freight. 

During the winter of 1902-03 the Missis­
sippi Transportation Company made a 
number of substantial improvements in its 
craft. It was completely overhauled and 
repainted, the pilothouse was raised three 
feet, and the cabins were extended to the 
full size of the second deck. These were 
built around the dining room, leaving the 
entire first deck for cargo and machin­
ery.^^ 

The ice went out of the river compara­
tively early in 1903, and the "Irene" made 
its first trip to Sandy Lake on April 20. 
The following week, regular trips to Grand 
Rapids were inaugurated. During the sea­
son it carried 1,200 passengers and 2,225 
tons of freight, valued at $101,750.00. The 
1904-05 report of the United States Army 
chief of engineers contained the following 
prediction: "The lumber interests upon the 
stream will remain as large as at present 
for some years. Above Grand Rapids those 
interests will increase. As the timber is 
removed, agricultural business will grow. 
The country . . . is difficult for road build­
ing and the river will become more and 
more an artery for commerce." ^-

IN MAY, 1903, it became known that the 
Finnish Colonization Company had pur­
chased sixty thousand acres of land in 
Aitkin County and that immigrants from 
Finland, then under the tyranny of the 
Czar, would be arriving soon to occupy 
the holdings of the company. The June 9 
issue of the Aitkin Age reported that the 
company had ordered a steamboat for the 
use of the colony, which was located in 
Verdon Township in the northern part of 
Aitkin County. This boat, a thirty foot 
steam launch, arrived in Aitkin by rail 
early in June. It was named the "Remnica" 
for the Finnish goddess of spring. It was 
launched about the middle of June and 

-"Aitkin Age, June 2, August 31, 1900; August 
27, 1901. 

^Aiffetn Age, April 14, 1903. 
" 58 Congress, 3 session, House Executive Doc­

uments, no. 2, pt. 2, p. 2241 (serial 4786). 
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left immediately for the colony up the 
river. In spite of its relatively small size, 
the boat had too much draft, and in 1904 
it was sold to a logging company and 
transported to Lake Mille Lacs. Even there 
it proved to have been a "good deal of a 
'Jonah, '" and it was finally shipped to 
International Falls for use on Rainy 
River.-^ 

To replace the "Remnica," the Finnish 
Colonization Company took over a small 
steamer which had been built by George 
Taylor of Grand Rapids. Like an earlier 
boat, it was called the "City of Aitkin." 
The Aitkin Age for April 21, 1903, an­
nounced that "Geo. Taylor's 'City of Aitkin' 
is expected down river at any time and 
the machinery which is here will be put 
in her." 

Notice of the boat's contract with the 
colonization company appeared in the 
same paper on July 14. On August 2, 1904, 
the Age reported that "Geo. Taylor, of 
steamboat fame, has his small boat at one 
of the Swan River bridges loaded to go up 
river, and is taking action against the 
logging company for obstructing the 
stream.'' The outcome of the controversy 
was not reported. This seems to be the last 
reference to the boat, which evidently 
played only a small part in river trans­
portation. 

The "Irene" and others made regular 
trips in 1904 and 1905, carrying 2,000 and 
660 tons of freight and 1,300 and 2,840 
passengers in each year respectively. The 
reduction in freight in 1905 may be ac­
counted for by the serious flood conditions 
that year.-*' 

T H E "ATLAS," a steam-driven barge cap­
able of carrying four hundred tons of car­
go, was built in 1905 by E. A. Gyde, who 
for some years operated a stave mill in 
Aitkin. Because of flood conditions, the 
boat made only one trip to Sandy Lake 
that season. The "Atlas" was too big and 
unwieldy to be satisfactory for general 
river traffic, and it \\'as finally reduced in 

size and used only to haul lumber for a 
stave mill. It continued in service through 
1909.-" 

From 1906 through 1908 the "Irene" 
carried the bulk of shipments up the 
Mississippi and established records for the 
number of passengers and the amount of 
freight carried — fifty-five hundred passen­
gers in 1906 and six thousand tons of 
freight in 1907. With business so good and 
with every prospect that it would continue, 
the Mississippi Transportation Company 
began in 1907 to build another steamer. 
This boat, named the "Oriole," was not 
launched until 1908. Its deck measured a 
hundred and five feet in length, and it had 
a twenty-two foot beam and a sixteen foot 
boiler. 

The "Oriole" started regular service 
in August, 1908, and with the "Irene" it 
carried fifteen hundred tons of freight and 
seventeen hundred passengers that year. 
The "Irene," however, was approaching the 
end of its career. In May, 1908, it sank 
from overloading at the Verdon landing. 
Within a few days it had been raised and 
had resumed its regular run. In the spring 
of 1909 it again sank at its Aitkin dock, and 
it was then hauled up on land and dis­
mantled. In 1909 and 1910 the "Oriole" 
operated alone. At the close of navigation 
in 1910, the boat was purchased by the 
government to be used as a dredge and 
snag boat.-'' 

The "Oriole" continued to operate in 
these capacities through the season of 1918. 
Then the machinery was removed and 

'•^Aitkin Age, June 9, 1903; September 29, 
1908. 

"' 59 Congress, 1 session. House Executive Doc­
uments, no. 2, pt. 2, p. 1673; 59 Congress, 2 ses­
sion, House Executive Documents, no. 22, pt. 1, 
p. 473 (serials 4947, 5144). 

''Aitkin Age, June 20, 1905; April 17, 1906; 
October 8, 1907; September 1, 1908. 

•° 60 Congress, 1 session. House Executive Doc­
uments, no. 26, pt. 2, p. 1584; 60 Congress, 2 
session. House Executive Documents, no. 1052, 
pt. 2, p. 1654; 61 Congress, 2 session. House 
Executive Documents, no. I l l , pt. 2, p. 1646 
(serials 5284, 5432, 5727); Aitkin Age, March 
24, May 19, 1908; July 20, 1909. 
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placed in storage at the Sandy Lake dam, 
with the recommendation that it be sold. 
The hull was said to be in such poor con­
dition that it would have to be rebuflt if 
it were to be used again. The condemned 
craft was purchased by George Mattoon, 
who had opened a tourist resort on the 
west shore of Sandy Lake about a mile 
south of the government dam. Mattoon 
towed the old boat to his resort and 
dragged it up on the beach, where it was 
named "The Ark" and used as a summer 
hotel until about 1941. 

In 1910 the Soo Line branch which ex­
tends northwestward through Aitkin Coun­
ty and crosses the Mississippi at the point 
where Palisade now stands was completed. 
The construction of a railroad bridge over 
the river there created a new hazard to 
navigation and compelled the owners of 
the "Oriole" to have its smokestacks hinged 
so that the boat could pass under the 
bridge. After a townsite was laid out near 
the crossing and a railway station was 

built, a good deal of river business in the 
transportation of farm supplies and prod­
ucts was cut off.-̂  

WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI Trans­
portation Company would care to continue 
in business was questioned by the Aitkin 
Age on February 21, 1911. If it did not, it 
would "no doubt, cause a number of 
settlers to put on gasoline launches for 
the convenience of themselves and their 
neighbors," the paper suggested. By 1915 
"about 20 gasoline launches" were said to 
be operating on the upper river, despite 
the fact that Viebahn and Punteney con­
tinued in business.^* In 1911 they launched 
the last of the steamers on this northern­
most navigable section of the Mississippi. 

The new boat was the "Lee." Parts of 
the old "Irene" were used in building it, 

'^Aitkin Age, June 14, 1910; February 21, 
1911. 

-" 64 Congress, 1 session. House Executive Doc­
uments, no. 91, pt. 2, p. 2790 (serial 6973). 

REMAINS of the steamboat landing at the mouth of the Sandy River, July, 1949 
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though it was smaller, with only one main 
deck. This enabled it to clear the bridge 
at Palisade. The Aitkin Age of May 23, 
1911, described the "Lee" as follows: "The 
boat is a handsome one — in fact the hand­
somest boat that has been on the run — 
although not as large as the old Oriole. . . . 
The freight deck is arranged as before but 
above, the cabin and pilot house is com­
bined in one pleasant room entirely sur­
rounded by glass windows which slide 
open. It can be a sun parlor or an open 
cabin according to weather." The name 
"Lee," chosen by Captain Viebahn, was 
his wife's maiden name. 

During its first year on the river, 1911, 
it carried 1,500 tons of freight and 1,050 
passengers. Freight and passenger business 
decreased rapidly until in 1920 an all-time 
low of sixty tons of freight and seventy-
five passengers was recorded.-^ By that 
time the boat had passed into the hands 
of Marcus Nelson, a prominent lumber­
man of the area, who used it chiefly in 
connection with log drives down Prairie 
River and across Sandy Lake. 

About 1920-21 the "Lee" sank near 
Gyde's mill at the mouth of Mud River. It 
was later raised and stripped to the hull, 
which was repaired and towed upstream 

by Harry Riggs to be operated as a ferry 
in Verdon Township. It did not operate 
very long and eventually the hull of the 
"Lee" was left to rot away on the river 
bank.3" 

Today where the waters of the Sandy 
River join those of the Mississippi may be 
seen a pile of boulders cribbed in by rot­
ting logs — all that is left of an old steam­
boat landing. Just a few rods away on a 
narrow ridge between the two streams 
may be seen a group of depressions which 
were once cellars underneath the buildings 
of the American Fur Company post erected 
there in the 1820's. These two physical 
features are reminders of two phases of 
Minnesota's industrial life — steamboating 
and the fur trade —now merely parts of 
the state's storied past. 

™ 62 Congress, 3 session. House Executive Doc­
uments, no. 936, pt. 2, p. 2184; 67 Congress, 2 
session, House Executive Documents, no. 232, pt. 
2, p. 925 (serials 6385, 8003). 

™ Interviews with W. F. Punteney in 1935 and 
Harry Riggs in 1948. 

THE PICTURES on pages 7 and 10 were ob­
tained by the author from the Aitkin Age; that on 
page 13 was furnished by a daughter of William 
Byerla, a member of the "Irene's" crew; that on 
page 15 came from Mrs. Marcus Nelson, whose 
husband once owned the "Lee"; and the view on 
page 18 was photographed by Evan A. Hart. 

A Note on Our New Format 

A TWO-COLUMN enlarged type page, coated 
paper, and pictures are only the more obvious 
features of our new format, which involved a 
complete redesigning of our quarterly. The 
text is set in a new type face, Caledonia, 
which is distinguished both by reading ease 
and beauty of design. For the headings, a 
handsome face known as Bulmer is used. 

In planning the new format, we were 
fortunate in having the help of experts. A well-
known Minneapolis typographer, Frank Kof-
ron, designed the pictorial cover, planned the 
inside and back cover pages, and supervised 
the layout and type style throughout. We take 
pride in the fact that he is entering our cover 

in a display of the work of members of the 
Twin City Society of Artists and Art Directors 
at the Dayton Company's store, opening on 
April 14. 

In implementing the new design, Irving 
Kreidberg played a major role. He is connected 
with the North Central Publishing Company 
of St. Paul, which prints the quarterly. 

We have endeavored to improve our mag­
azine without sacrificing the high standards of 
scholarship and editing that have long char­
acterized it. The success of the new design 
can be measured only by your reaction. Let 
us know what you think of it. We are eager 
to hear from you. Ed. 
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